UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): March 22, 2019

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Bermuda (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation) 001-14428 (Commission File Number) 98-014-1974 (IRS Employer Identification No.)

Renaissance House
12 Crow Lane, Pembroke
Bermuda
(Address of principal executive offices)

HM 19 (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (441) 295-4513

Not Applicable (Former name or former address, if changed since last report).

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions:

- □ Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)
- □ Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)
- □ Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))
- □ Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an emerging growth company as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act of 1933 (§230.405 of this chapter) or Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (§240.12b-2 of this chapter). Emerging growth company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

□

Introductory Note

On March 22, 2019, RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. ("RenaissanceRe" or the "Company") caused its wholly owned subsidiary RenaissanceRe Specialty Holdings (UK) Limited (the "Acquiring Entity") to complete its purchase of all of the share capital of Tokio Millennium Re AG ("TMR AG") and Tokio Millennium Re (UK) Limited ("TMR UK" and, together with TMR AG and their respective subsidiaries, the "TMR Group") for the aggregate consideration set forth in the TMR Stock Purchase Agreement (as defined below) (the "TMR Stock Purchase") pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, dated October 30, 2018 (the "TMR Stock Purchase Agreement"), by and among RenaissanceRe, Tokio Marine & Nichido Fire Insurance Co., Ltd. ("Tokio"), and, solely with respect to Section 5.14 and Article XI thereof, Tokio Marine Holdings, Inc. (the "Tokio Parent").

Item 1.01. Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

On March 22, 2019, TMR AG and TMR UK entered into that certain Reserve Development Agreement with Tokio (the "Reserve Development Agreement"). Pursuant to the Reserve Development Agreement, TMR AG and TMR UK will cede to Tokio and Tokio will indemnify and reimburse TMR AG and TMR UK for substantially all of TMR AG's and TMR UK's stated reserves on March 22, 2019 including unearned premium reserves, subject to the terms and conditions of the Reserve Development Agreement.

Also on March 22, 2019, TMR AG entered into that certain Retrocession Agreement with Tokio (the "Retrocession Agreement"). The Retrocession Agreement covers liabilities ceded to Tokio under the stop loss reinsurance contracts listed or to be listed therein as provided by TMR AG related to TMR AG's third party capital business.

The foregoing summary of the Reserve Development Agreement is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Reserve Development Agreement, which is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.1 and is incorporated by reference herein. The foregoing summary of the Retrocession Agreement is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Retrocession Agreement, which is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.2 and is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 2.01. Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets.

On March 22, 2019, the TMR Stock Purchase was consummated in accordance with the terms of the TMR Stock Purchase Agreement. As partial consideration for the TMR Stock Purchase, the Company issued and the Acquiring Entity transferred 1,739,071 Common Shares of the Company to Tokio.

The foregoing summary of the TMR Stock Purchase Agreement is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the TMR Stock Purchase Agreement, which was previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 5, 2018, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 3.02. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities of the Company.

Pursuant to the terms of the TMR Stock Purchase Agreement and in connection with the TMR Stock Purchase, Common Shares of the Company were issued and transferred to Tokio. The number of shares issued, the nature of the transaction and the nature and amount of consideration received by the Company and the Acquiring Entity are described in Item 2.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K, which is incorporated by reference into this Item 3.02. The Common Shares of the Company issued in connection with the TMR Stock Purchase were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and/or Regulation D and Rule 506 promulgated thereunder.

Item 7.01 Regulation FD Disclosure

On March 22, 2019, the Company issued a press release announcing the closing of the TMR Stock Purchase. A copy of the press release is attached hereto as Exhibit 99.1 and is incorporated by reference into this Item 7.01. The information in Item 7.01 of this Form 8-K and Exhibit 99.1 hereto is being furnished and shall not be deemed "filed" for the purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that Section and shall not be incorporated by reference into any registration statement or other document pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, except as otherwise expressly stated in such filing.

Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(a) Financial statements of businesses acquired.

The financial statements required by this Item 9.01(a) will be filed by amendment to this Current Report on Form 8-K not later than 71 calendar days after the date on which this Current Report on Form 8-K is required to be filed.

(b) Pro forma financial information.

The pro forma financial information required by this Item 9.01(b) will be filed by amendment to this Current Report on Form 8-K not later than 71 calendar days after the date on which this Current Report on Form 8-K is required to be filed.

(d) Exhibits.

Exhibit No.	<u>Description</u>
2.1+	Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 30, 2018, by and among Tokio Marine & Nichido Fire Insurance Co., Ltd., Tokio Marine Holdings, Inc., and RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd., including the exhibits thereto.
10.1*	Reserve Development Agreement, dated as of March 22, 2019, by and between Tokio Millennium Re AG, and Tokio Millennium Re (UK) Limited and Tokio Marine & Nichido Fire Insurance Co., Ltd.
10.2*	Retrocession Agreement, dated as of March 22, 2019, by and between Tokio Millennium Re AG and Tokio Marine & Nichido Fire Insurance Co., Ltd.
99.1	Press release dated March 22, 2019.

- * Certain schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Company hereby undertakes to furnish supplemental copies of any of the omitted schedules upon request by the SEC.
- + Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 5, 2018.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward Looking Statements

Any forward-looking statements made in this Form 8-K reflect RenaissanceRe's current views with respect to future events and financial performance and are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are subject to numerous factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those set forth in or implied by such forward-looking statements, including the following: risks that the TMR Stock Purchase disrupts or distracts from current plans and operations; the ability to recognize the benefits of the TMR Stock Purchase; the amount of the costs, fees, expenses and charges related to the TMR Stock Purchase; the frequency and severity of catastrophic and other events that the Company covers; the effectiveness of the Company's claims and claim expense reserving process; the Company's ability to maintain its financial strength ratings; the effect of climate change on the Company's business; collection on claimed retrocessional coverage, and new retrocessional reinsurance being available on acceptable terms and providing the coverage that we intended to obtain; the effects of U.S. tax reform legislation and possible future tax reform legislation and regulations, including changes to the tax treatment of the Company's shareholders or investors in the Company's joint ventures or other entities the Company manages; the effect of emerging claims and coverage issues; continued soft reinsurance underwriting market conditions; the Company's reliance on a small and decreasing number of reinsurance brokers and other distribution services for the preponderance of its revenue; the Company's exposure to credit loss from counterparties in the normal course of business; the effect of continued challenging economic conditions throughout the world; a contention by the Internal Revenue Service that Renaissance Reinsurance Ltd., or any of the Company's other Bermuda subsidiaries, is subject to taxation in the U.S.; the success of any of the Company's strategic investments or acquisitions, including the Company's ability to manage its operations as its product and geographical diversity increases; the Company's ability to retain key senior officers and to attract or retain the executives and employees necessary to manage its business; the performance of the Company's investment portfolio; losses that the Company could face from terrorism, political unrest or war; the effect of cybersecurity risks, including technology breaches or failure on the Company's business; the Company's ability to successfully implement its business strategies and initiatives; the Company's ability to determine the impairments taken on investments; the effect of inflation; the ability of the Company's ceding companies and delegated authority counterparties to accurately assess the risks they underwrite; the effect of operational risks, including system or human failures; the Company's ability to effectively manage capital on behalf of investors in joint ventures or other entities it manages; foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; the Company's ability to raise capital if necessary; the Company's ability to comply with covenants in its debt agreements; changes to the regulatory systems under which the Company operates, including as a result of increased global regulation of the insurance and reinsurance industry; changes in Bermuda laws and regulations and the political environment in Bermuda; the Company's dependence on the ability of its operating subsidiaries to declare and pay dividends; aspects of the Company's corporate structure that may discourage third-party takeovers or other transactions; the cyclical nature of the reinsurance and insurance industries; adverse legislative developments that reduce the size of the private markets the Company serves or impede their future growth; consolidation of competitors, customers and insurance and reinsurance brokers; the effect on the Company's business of the highly competitive nature of its industry, including the effect of new entrants to, competing products

for and consolidation in the (re)insurance industry; other political, regulatory or industry initiatives adversely impacting the Company; the Company's ability to comply with sanctions and foreign corrupt practices laws with respect to its international operations; increasing barriers to free trade and the free flow of capital; international restrictions on the writing of reinsurance by foreign companies and government intervention in the natural catastrophe market; the effect of Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development or European Union ("EU") measures to increase the Company's taxes and reporting requirements; the effect of the vote by the U.K. to leave the EU; changes in regulatory regimes and accounting rules that may impact financial results irrespective of business operations; the Company's need to make many estimates and judgments in the preparation of its financial statements; and other factors affecting future results disclosed in RenaissanceRe's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including its Annual Reports on Form 10-K and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

RENAISSANCERE HOLDINGS LTD.

Date: March 22, 2019 By: /s/ Stephen H. Weinstein

Name: Stephen H. Weinstein

Title: Senior Vice President, Group General Counsel & Corporate

Secretary

RESERVE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

between

TOKIO MILLENNIUM RE AG

TOKIO MILLENNIUM RE (UK) LIMITED

and

TOKIO MARINE & NICHIDO FIRE INSURANCE CO., LTD.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS	3
ARTICLE II COVERAGE	9
ARTICLE III PREMIUM	9
ARTICLE IV TRANSFER OR SALE OF REINSURED BUSINESS	9
ARTICLE V GENERAL PROVISIONS; REPRESENTATIONS	10
ARTICLE VI REPORTS; RESERVES	12
ARTICLE VII DURATION: TERMINATION	14
ARTICLE VIII COMMUTATION	14
ARTICLE IX COLLATERAL	16
ARTICLE X INSOLVENCY	17
ARTICLE XI EXCLUSIONS	18
ARTICLE XII INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTING FIRM	18
ARTICLE XIII ARBITRATION	19
ARTICLE XIV MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	21
SCHEDULES	
SCHEDULE 1 – AGREED PROCEDURES	
SCHEDULE 2 – PREMIUM	

RESERVE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

This RESERVE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (this "<u>Agreement</u>"), effective as of 12:01 a.m. on the Closing Date (the "<u>Effective Date</u>"), is made and entered into by and among Tokio Millennium Re AG ("<u>Tokio AG</u>"), Tokio Millennium Re (UK) Limited ("<u>Tokio UK</u>" and, collectively with Tokio AG, the "<u>Cedent</u>") and Tokio Marine & Nichido Fire Insurance Co., Ltd. (the "<u>Reinsurer</u>"). Capitalized terms used herein are defined below.

WHEREAS, the Reinsurer and the Purchaser have entered into the Stock Purchase Agreement regarding, among other things, the sale by the Reinsurer and purchase by the Purchaser of all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of Tokio AG and Tokio UK;

WHEREAS, the Purchaser and the Reinsurer have agreed that the Reinsurer will reinsure upon the terms and subject to the conditions stated herein a 95% share of the Cedent's Ultimate Net Loss in excess of the Retention; and

WHEREAS, this Agreement is entered into as a condition to the Closing of the Stock Purchase Agreement.

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

- 1.1. <u>Definitions</u>. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings (definitions are applicable to both the singular and the plural forms of each term defined in this Article):
- "Affiliate" means any other Person that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the first Person.

 "Control" (including the terms, "controlled by" and "under common control with") means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or credit arrangement, as trustee or executor, or otherwise.
 - "Agreed Procedures" means those accounting and actuarial procedures set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto.
 - "Agreement" shall have the meaning specified in the preamble of this Agreement.
- "Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses" shall mean (i) all obligations for loss adjustment expenses payable as a result of the terms and conditions of the insurance and reinsurance contracts constituting the Reinsured Business and any court, arbitration, mediation or other dispute resolution costs, attorneys' fees, expenses, pre- and post-judgment interest, and any external costs incurred in connection with the defense, investigation or audit of or negotiations of a dispute, including coverage disputes costs and expenses, involving the Reinsured Business; and

(ii) a pro-rata share of salaries and expenses of in-house counsel, and personnel of the Cedent or any of its Affiliates who, under the circumstances, have been either permanently assigned or temporarily diverted from their normal and customary duties and assigned to the adjustment of a loss covered by this Agreement according to the time occupied in adjusting such loss, excluding, however, office expenses and salaries of all other officials and employees of the Cedent or its Affiliates who are not classified, or temporarily working, as loss adjusters.

"Business Day" means any day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in the City of New York, New York, Tokyo, Japan, Zurich, Switzerland or London, United Kingdom are required or authorized by Law to remain closed.

"Ceded Reinsurance" means all reinsurance ceded by the Cedent pursuant to contracts, binders, certificates, policies, treaties or other evidence of reinsurance relating to the Reinsured Business in effect on or prior to the Effective Date, except the reinsurance provided pursuant to this Agreement.

"Ceded Reinsurance Commutation" means, with respect to any portion of the Ceded Reinsurance covering the Reinsured Business, a commutation or other similar transaction that results in the termination of the Ceded Reinsurance with respect to the Reinsured Business.

"Cedent" shall have the meaning specified in the preamble of this Agreement.

"Cedent Extra Contractual Obligations" means those obligations or losses arising from the grossly negligent, intentional or bad faith acts or omissions of the Cedent's employees, officers or directors, or fraud of an employee, officer or director of the Cedent acting individually or collectively or in collusion with any individual or corporation or any other organization or party involved in the presentation, defense or settlement of any claim, in each case as so determined by final adjudication by any order, judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction; provided, that any coverage for bad faith or fraud under this Agreement shall only be permitted to the extent such coverage is not contrary to applicable Law (including, with respect to any coverage for risks reinsured by the United States branch of Tokio AG ("Tokio AG U.S. Branch"), to the extent such coverage is not contrary to the Laws of the State of New York).

"Closing" means the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Stock Purchase Agreement.

"Closing Date" means the date on which the Closing occurs.

"Collateral Requirement" shall have the meaning specified in Section 9.1(e).

"Commutation Effective Date" shall have the meaning specified in Section 8.2(a).

"Dispute Notice" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.4(b) and Section 8.2(d), as applicable.

"Effective Date" shall have the meaning specified in the preamble of this Agreement.

"Eligible Assets" means and includes U.S. legal tender ("cash") and U.S. Treasury Bills having a remaining maturity at the time of delivery of not more than one year.

"Estimated Loss Amount" means, as of any date of determination, the sum of (i) Loss Reserves as of such date of determination, plus (ii) Estimated Loss from Unearned Premiums as of such date of determination, plus (iii) the actual paid Losses from the Effective Date to such date of determination, minus (iv) any Recoveries and Reinsurance Recoveries from the Effective Date to such date of determination.

"Estimated Loss from Unearned Premium" means the aggregate estimated loss of the Cedent related to unearned premium in respect of the Reinsured Business, net of Reinsurance Recoverables and calculated in accordance with the Agreed Procedures.

"Extra Contractual Obligations" means those liabilities arising from claims which arise from the handling of any claim relating to the Reinsured Business because of, but not limited to, failure to settle within the policy limit, or by reason of alleged or actual negligence, fraud or bad faith rejecting an offer of settlement or in the preparation of the defense in the trial of any action against its insured or reinsured or in the preparations or prosecution of an appeal consequent upon such action, including losses in excess of policy limits, in each case excluding Cedent Extra Contractual Obligations; provided, that any coverage for bad faith or fraud under this Agreement shall only be permitted to the extent such coverage is not contrary to applicable Law (including, with respect to any coverage for risks reinsured by Tokio AG U.S. Branch, to the extent such coverage is not contrary to the Laws of the State of New York).

"Governmental Action" means any consent, approval, authorization, waiver, Permit, grant, franchise, concession, agreement, license, certificate, exemption, order, decree, judgment, injunction, registration, declaration, filing, report or notice of, with or to any Governmental Authority.

"Governmental Authority" means any foreign or national government, any state or other political subdivision thereof, and any entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to government.

"Impairment Event" means any of the following occurrences:

- (a) the Reinsurer becomes insolvent or has been placed into liquidation, rehabilitation, conservation, supervision, receivership or similar proceedings (whether voluntary or involuntary), or there has been instituted against it proceedings for the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, rehabilitator, conservator, or trustee in bankruptcy, or other agent known by whatever name, to take possession of its assets or assume control of its operations;
 - (b) the Reinsurer's AM Best Rating or Standard & Poor's Financial Strength Rating has been assigned or downgraded below "A-"; or

(c) the Reinsurer fails to pay any undisputed amounts due hereunder in excess of \$10,000,000 and such breach has not been cured within twenty (20) Business Days after written notice thereof from the Cedent.

"Independent Accounting Firm" means KPMG, or if such firm is not available or is unwilling to serve, then an independent and nationally recognized accounting firm upon which the Cedent and the Reinsurer mutually agree in writing, or failing such mutual agreement; within twenty (20) Business Days after the Cedent and the Reinsurer are notified that KPMG is not available or is unwilling to serve, an independent and nationally recognized accounting firm selected by the New York City office of the American Arbitration Association upon the request of the Cedent and the Reinsurer; provided, however that, unless otherwise agreed between the Cedent and the Reinsurer, if the Parent and the Acquiror submit any disputes to an Independent Accounting Firm (as defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement) pursuant to Section 2.05(d) of the Stock Purchase Agreement, such Independent Accounting Firm shall be the Independent Accounting Firm for purposes of Article XII hereof.

"Insurance Department" means in any jurisdiction, the Governmental Authority primarily charged with the regulation of the business of insurance in such jurisdiction.

"Law" means all (i) constitutions, treaties, statutes, laws (including common law), codes, rules, regulations, ordinances or orders of any Governmental Authority, (ii) Governmental Actions, (iii) orders, decisions, injunctions, judgments, awards and decrees of or agreements with any Governmental Authority, and (iv) rules and policies of any self-regulatory body.

"Layer" means the Cedent's losses in excess of the Retention up to the Reinsurer's Aggregate Limit.

"Lien" means any mortgage, pledge, deed of trust, hypothecation, claim, security interest, title defect, encumbrance, burden, charge or other similar restriction, lease, sublease, claim, title retention agreement, option, easement, covenant, encroachment or other adverse claim.

"LOC" shall have the meaning specified in Section 9.1(a).

"Loss" or "Losses" means the amount of liability paid or to be paid by the Cedent from and after the Effective Date with respect to claims, including any settlements or compromises or disputed claims, arising out of or relating to the Reinsured Business. Loss shall include all Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Extra Contractual Obligations, and commutations of any Reinsured Business in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Loss shall also include profit commissions and No Claims Bonuses paid by the Cedent on the Reinsured Business where profit commissions and No Claims Bonuses were accounted for in the calculation of the Loss Reserves or Estimated Loss from Unearned Premium.

"Loss Reserves" means the aggregate reserves of the Cedent for Losses (including (i) Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses and (ii) losses incurred but not reported), net of collectible Reinsurance Recoverables.

"Net Retained Liability" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.2.

"Non-Specific Reinsurance" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.2.

"Permits" means all federal, state, local and foreign governmental approvals, authorizations, certificates, filings, franchises, licenses, notices, permits and rights.

"Person" means any natural person, firm, limited liability company, general partnership, limited partnership, joint venture, association, corporation, trust, Governmental Authority or other entity.

"Premium Adjustments" means any increase or decrease of premium under the Reinsured Business after the Effective Date as a result of retrospective premium adjustment provisions with respect to the Reinsured Business.

"Purchaser" means RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.

"Purchaser Group" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.1(b).

"Quarterly Loss Payment" with respect to each calendar quarter during the term of this Agreement, means (i) if the Ultimate Net Loss has never exceeded the Retention, zero; and (ii) if the Ultimate Net Loss has exceeded the Retention, the result of $[0.95 \times [(a) - (b)]] - (c)$, where:

- (a) is the Ultimate Net Loss as of the end of such calendar quarter;
- (b) is the Retention; and
- (c) is the sum of all Quarterly Loss Payments paid by the Reinsurer to the Cedent prior to the end of such calendar quarter.

"Quarterly Report" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.1.

"Recoveries" means salvage and subrogation amounts actually recovered by the Cedent in respect of Losses. "Recoveries" do not include Reinsurance Recoveries.

"Reinsurance Recoverables" means the amount of reinsurance recoverables that are payable under Ceded Reinsurance with respect to Losses incurred by the Cedent.

"Reinsurance Recoveries" means the amount of Reinsurance Recoverables that are (i) actually collected by the Cedent under Ceded Reinsurance with respect to Losses incurred by the Cedent, or (ii) in the event of a Ceded Reinsurance Commutation, actually collected by the Cedent as the commutation payment.

"Reinsured Business" means (i) all insurance and reinsurance contracts of the Cedent (including the entire term of any multi-year policies) that are bound prior to the Effective Date and (ii) all renewals and replacements thereof or amendments or supplements thereto required under contractual terms in effect prior to the Effective Date or under applicable Law, in each case excluding any liabilities ceded by Tokio Millennium Re AG to Tokio Marine and Nichido Fire Insurance Co., Ltd. pursuant to that certain Retrocession Agreement, dated as of the date

hereof, relating to third-party capital business. With respect to renewal and/or replacement contracts that are required pursuant to the contractual terms in effect prior to the Effective Date and/or applicable Law, such contracts may be renewed onto any balance sheet within the Purchaser Group and still qualify as Reinsured Business hereunder.

"Reinsurer" shall have the meaning specified in the preamble of this Agreement.

"Reinsurer's Aggregate Limit" means \$ 500,000,000.

"Representative" of a Person means the directors, officers, employees, advisers, agents, consultants, accountants, investment bankers or other representatives of such Person and of such Person's Affiliates.

"Retention" means the sum of (i) Loss Reserves, plus (ii) Estimated Loss from Unearned Premiums, in each case as of the Effective Date and reflected on the Retention Statement, as finally determined in accordance with Section 6.4 and the Agreed Procedures.

"Retention Statement" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.4(a).

"Stock Purchase Agreement" means the Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 30, 2018, as amended, among the Reinsurer, Tokio Marine Holdings and the Purchaser.

"Terminal Settlement Payment" shall have the meaning specified in Section 8.2.

"Terminal Settlement Statement" shall have the meaning specified in Section 8.2.

"Tokio AG U.S. Branch" shall have the meaning set forth in the definition of "Cedent Extra Contractual Obligations".

"Treasury Rate" means the interest rate on U.S. Treasury bills having a time to maturity of 90 days.

"Trust Account" shall have the meaning specified in Section 9.1(a).

"Trust Agreement" shall have the meaning specified in Section 9.1(a).

"Trustee" shall have the meaning specified in Section 9.1(a).

"<u>Ultimate Net Loss</u>" means, as of any date of determination, the sum of (i) the actual paid Losses from the Effective Date to such date of determination, less (ii) Recoveries and Reinsurance Recoveries from the Effective Date to such date of determination.

ARTICLE II COVERAGE

2.1. Coverage.

- (a) As of the Effective Date, the Cedent hereby cedes to the Reinsurer, and the Reinsurer hereby agrees to indemnify and reimburse the Cedent for, an aggregate amount equal to ninety-five percent (95%) of the Cedent's Ultimate Net Loss in excess of the Retention, in an amount not to exceed the Reinsurer's Aggregate Limit.
- (b) Notwithstanding Section 2.1(a), there shall not be any duplicative payments or indemnities by the Reinsurer under the Stock Purchase Agreement and by the Reinsurer under this Agreement (*i.e.*, no "double recovery" for the same loss). Subject to the immediately preceding sentence, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any other agreement previously or concurrently entered into between the Reinsurer or any of its Affiliates and the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates in connection with the Stock Purchase Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, if the Cedent and/or the Purchaser, its Affiliates, officers, directors, employees, agents and representatives (collectively the "Purchaser Group") has the right to indemnification or recovery under more than one provision of this Agreement or any such other agreement, the Purchaser Group shall have the right to seek and obtain indemnification or other recovery for all recoveries allowed under each such provision.
- 2.2. Net Retained Liability. The Cedent shall retain, net and unreinsured, five percent (5%) of the Layer ("Net Retained Liability"); provided, however, that the Reinsurer may purchase Non-Specific Reinsurance that may cover its Net Retained Liability and any recoveries under such Non-Specific Reinsurance shall be disregarded for purposes of determining Ultimate Net Loss. For purposes of this Agreement, "Non-Specific Reinsurance" shall mean either: (i) reinsurance purchased by the Cedent and/or its Affiliates that is designed to protect the Purchaser Group's combined exposures with respect to certain types of risks which may include Reinsured Business hereunder; and (ii) only with the prior written consent of the Reinsurer (which shall not be unreasonably withheld), reinsurance purchased by the Purchaser Group with respect to the Reinsured Business in order to maintain the Cedent's corporate risk tolerances, including reinsurance in order to maintain the Cedent's corporate retention limits or to reduce the Cedent's exposure to certain exposures outside of its corporate risk tolerances.

ARTICLE III PREMIUM

3.1. Premium. The Cedent shall pay a premium to the Reinsurer in the amount and in accordance with the terms set forth in Schedule 2 to be annexed hereto.

ARTICLE IV TRANSFER OR SALE OF REINSURED BUSINESS

- 4.1. <u>Transfer or Sale within Purchaser Group</u>. The Cedent shall be entitled to transfer or sell, by any means, all or a portion of the Reinsured Business to any balance sheet within the Purchaser Group and such transferred or sold business shall still qualify as Reinsured Business hereunder.
- 4.2. <u>Transfer or Sale outside of Purchaser Group</u>. With the prior written consent of the Reinsurer (which shall not be unreasonably withheld), the Cedent shall be entitled to transfer or sell, by any means, all or a portion of the Reinsured Business to an entity not within the Purchaser Group and the transfer or sale price shall be treated under this Agreement in a manner agreed to by each of the Reinsurer and the Cedent at the time of such transfer or sale

ARTICLE V GENERAL PROVISIONS; REPRESENTATIONS

- 5.1. <u>Inspection; Cooperation</u>. (a) Upon reasonable prior written notice, the parties to this Agreement or their designated representatives may inspect, at the offices of the Reinsurer or the Cedent where such records are located, any and all books and records of the Cedent or the Reinsurer, respectively, to the extent directly relating to the Reinsured Business, during normal business hours for such period as this Agreement is in effect or for as long thereafter as any rights or obligations of any party survives. The information obtained shall be used only for purposes relating to reinsurance under this Agreement.
 - (b) The Reinsurer shall have the right, but not the obligation, to associate at its own expense with the Cedent in the adjustment, litigation or negotiation of claims arising from the Reinsured Business; however, the Cedent shall retain ultimate authority on handling of claims.
 - (c) Each party hereto shall cooperate fully with the other in all reasonable respects in order to accomplish the objectives of this Agreement including making available to each their respective officers and employees for interviews and meetings with Governmental Authorities and furnishing any additional assistance, information and documents as may be reasonably requested by a party from time to time. Without limiting the foregoing, the Cedent shall cooperate and otherwise take all reasonable steps to permit the Reinsurer to exercise its rights of association in respect of the Reinsured Business.
- 5.2. <u>Misunderstandings and Oversights</u>. If any delay, omission, error or failure to pay amounts due or to perform any other act required by this Agreement is unintentional and caused by misunderstanding or oversight, the Cedent and the Reinsurer will adjust the situation to what it would have been had the misunderstanding or oversight not occurred. The party first discovering such misunderstanding or oversight, or an act resulting from such misunderstanding or oversight, will notify the other party in writing promptly upon discovery thereof, and, subject to mutual agreement, the parties shall act to correct any agreed misunderstandings or oversights within ten (10) Business Days of such other party's receipt of such notice. However, this Section shall not be construed as a waiver by either party of its right to enforce strictly the terms of this Agreement. All payments due with respect to such corrective action shall bear interest at the Treasury Rate then in effect from the date when such amounts would have been paid absent such misunderstanding or oversight to the date of actual payment, unless otherwise mutually agreed by the parties to this Agreement.
 - 5.3. Payments. All payments made pursuant to this Agreement shall be made in immediately available funds.

- 5.4. Follow the Fortunes. The Reinsurer's liability for each insurance or reinsurance arrangement constituting the Reinsured Business shall be subject in all respects to the same risks, terms, conditions, definitions, coverages, interpretations, waivers, modifications, alterations, and cancellations as the respective insurances (or reinsurances) of the Cedent (including, without limitation, coverage for any extra-contractual obligations or losses in excess of policy limits as may be covered under any of the insurance or reinsurance arrangements constituting the Reinsured Business). The true intent of this Agreement is that the Reinsurer shall, subject to the terms, conditions and limits of this Agreement, including the Reinsurer's Aggregate Limit, follow the fortunes of the Cedent.
- 5.5. <u>Administration</u>. (a) The Cedent shall administer the Reinsured Business and Ceded Reinsurance at the Cedent's sole expense. The Reinsurer shall not be liable for any costs and expenses for the administration of the Reinsured Business, or Ceded Reinsurance, except as set forth in the definition of "Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses".
 - (b) The Cedent shall administer the Reinsured Business and Ceded Reinsurance in a professional and competent manner consistent with the Cedent's past practice and subject to 5.5(c)-(e) below.
 - (c) Without the prior written consent of the Reinsurer (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld), the Cedent shall not:
 - (i) Commute or terminate any Ceded Reinsurance (including any associated reinsurance collateral arrangement);
 - (ii) Commute or terminate any assumed insurance or reinsurance arrangement constituting the Reinsured Business in excess of \$10,000,000;
 - (iii) Settle a claim on any one Property Other assumed insurance or reinsurance contract in excess of \$10,000,000; or
 - (iv) Settle a claim on any one Property Catastrophe assumed insurance or reinsurance contract in excess of \$25,000,000.
 - (d) The Reinsurer will be deemed to have consented if it fails to respond within:
 - (i) Ten (10) Business Days of receiving a request pursuant to 5.5(c)(i) or (ii); or
 - (ii) Two (2) Business Days of receiving a request pursuant to 5.5(c)(iii) or (iv).
 - (e) If the Reinsurer refuses to consent to a request under 5.5(c) or if circumstances prevented the Cedent from seeking such consent, the Reinsurer shall provide the Cedent with the basis for any objection to a commutation, termination or settlement in writing, following which the parties shall seek to mutually resolve any areas of dispute. If the parties are unable to resolve their dispute, it shall be referred to arbitration pursuant to Article XIII in order to determine the extent to which the Ultimate Net Loss may have increased due to the Cedent acting without prior written consent.

- 5.6. <u>Representations and Warranties</u>. The Reinsurer hereby represents and warrants to the Purchaser and the Cedent as of the Effective Date as follows:
 - (a) The Cedent and the Reinsurer are duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of their respective states of incorporation, and have the corporate and legal power and authority to own, lease and operate their assets, to carry on their business as now conducted and to enter into and consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.
 - (b) The Cedent and the Reinsurer have duly authorized, executed and delivered this Agreement, which constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Cedent and the Reinsurer enforceable against the Cedent and the Reinsurer in accordance with its terms, except as limited by laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally or by general equitable principles.
 - (c) The execution, delivery and performance by the Cedent and the Reinsurer of this Agreement, and the performance by the Cedent and the Reinsurer of their respective obligations hereunder will not (i) conflict with any of the provisions of the articles or certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Cedent or the Reinsurer, as applicable, (ii) conflict with or result in a breach of or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, give rise to a right of termination, cancellation, modification or acceleration of any obligation or to the loss of any benefit under, or result in the creation of any Lien on the shares of issued and outstanding capital stock of the Cedent or any property or asset owned by the Cedent under, any Permit, instrument, contract or other legally binding commitment or agreement to which the Cedent or the Reinsurer is a party or by which any of their respective properties or assets is bound, or (iii) violate any Law applicable to the Cedent or the Reinsurer or their respective properties or assets.

ARTICLE VI REPORTS; RESERVES

- 6.1. Quarterly Reports. Within forty-five (45) days after the close of each calendar quarter ending after the Effective Date, the Cedent shall deliver to the Reinsurer a report (the "Quarterly Report") in a form mutually acceptable to the Cedent and the Reinsurer, containing the following information regarding the Reinsured Business:
 - (a) Loss Reserves and Estimated Loss from Unearned Premiums as of the beginning of the calendar quarter;
 - (b) Loss Reserves and Estimated Loss from Unearned Premiums as of the close of the calendar quarter;
 - (c) Loss actually paid by the Cedent, during the calendar quarter;

- (d) Recoveries actually received by the Cedent during the calendar quarter;
- (e) Reinsurance Recoveries actually received by the Cedent during the calendar quarter;
- (f) Premium Adjustments during the calendar quarter;
- (g) A calculation of Ultimate Net Loss as of the close of the calendar quarter;
- (h) A calculation of the Quarterly Loss Payment for the calendar quarter;
- (i) If security is required pursuant to Article IX, a calculation of the Collateral Requirement as of the end of the calendar quarter; and
- (j) All additional information as may be reasonably required by the Reinsurer to prepare its statutory statements filed with insurance regulators or as may be otherwise reasonably requested by the Reinsurer for similar business purposes.
- 6.2. <u>Payment</u>. If the aggregate amount of Loss actually paid by the Cedent, net of Recoveries and Reinsurance Recoveries, is greater than the Retention, the Reinsurer shall pay to the Cedent any amounts due the Cedent pursuant to Section 2.1 (less any amounts previously paid by the Reinsurer to the Cedent under this Section) within thirty (30) days after the receipt of the Quarterly Report.
- 6.3. Commercially Reasonable Efforts to Supply Actual Data. In preparing all reports required in this Agreement, the Cedent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to supply the actual data. If the actual data cannot be supplied with the appropriate report, the Cedent shall so indicate in the report, shall produce estimates thereof and shall provide amended reports based on actual data no more than thirty (30) Business Days after the actual data becomes available and the parties will settle any additional amounts due within ten (10) Business Days thereafter.
- 6.4. <u>Calculation of Retention</u>. (a) Within sixty (60) days following the Closing Date, the Cedent shall prepare and deliver to the Reinsurer a detailed calculation of the (i) Loss Reserves and (ii) Estimated Loss from Unearned Premiums, each determined in accordance with the Agreed Procedures (the "<u>Retention Statement</u>").
 - (b) The Reinsurer shall have thirty (30) days following receipt of the Retention Statement to review the calculation of the Retention, and to notify the Cedent in writing if it disputes any aspect of the calculation of the Retention set forth in the Retention Statement (the "Dispute Notice"), specifying the reasons therefor in reasonable detail. The Reinsurer shall be conclusively deemed to have accepted all items and amounts contained in the Retention Statement other than the items identified in the Dispute Notice. In connection with the Reinsurer's review of the Retention Statement, the Cedent shall permit, and shall cause its Representatives to permit, the Reinsurer and its Representatives to have reasonable access, during normal business hours and upon reasonable notice, to (i) the relevant books, records and employees of the Cedent and (ii) all relevant work papers, schedules, memoranda and other documents prepared by the Cedent or its Representatives in connection with its preparation of its calculation of the Retention.

- (c) In the event that the Reinsurer shall deliver a Dispute Notice to the Cedent, the Cedent and the Reinsurer shall attempt to resolve such dispute as promptly as practicable and, upon such resolution, if any adjustments to the Retention shall be made in accordance with the resolution of the Cedent and the Reinsurer, then the Cedent and the Reinsurer shall set forth any such resolution in writing. If the Cedent and the Reinsurer are unable to resolve any such dispute within thirty (30) Business Days (or such longer period as the Cedent and the Reinsurer shall mutually agree in writing) of the Reinsurer's delivery of such Dispute Notice, the Cedent and the Reinsurer shall promptly submit to the Independent Accounting Firm any remaining items in dispute for resolution pursuant to the procedures set forth in Article XII, and any determination of the Independent Accounting Firm shall be final and binding on the parties.
- (d) To the extent that there are any Premium Adjustments that occur after the Effective Date, the Retention will be updated in accordance with the Agreed Procedures.

ARTICLE VII DURATION: TERMINATION

7.1. Reinsurer's Liability. This Agreement shall commence as of the Effective Date and continue in force until the earlier of (i) the date that the Reinsurer has actually paid an aggregate net amount in respect of Ultimate Net Loss equal to the Reinsurer's Aggregate Limit, (ii) such time as the Cedent has no further liability with respect to the Reinsured Business and all amounts due to the Cedent under this Agreement have been paid by the Reinsurer and (iii) this Agreement is commuted in full and all amounts due to the Cedent under this Agreement have been paid by the Reinsurer.

ARTICLE VIII COMMUTATION

8.1. <u>Commutation by Agreement</u>. Except as set forth in Section 8.2, this Agreement may only be commuted in accordance with the prior written agreement of the parties to this Agreement. The parties agree to negotiate in good faith a full commutation of this Agreement as of the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Effective Date and until commuted as of every anniversary thereafter, and the parties agree that the terms of any commutation of this Agreement shall be fair and equitable to the parties hereto.

8.2. Commutation Following Impairment Event.

(a) Upon the occurrence of an Impairment Event, the Cedent shall have the right (but not the obligation) to commute all, and not less than all, of the reinsurance ceded under this Agreement, by providing the Reinsurer with written notice of its intent to effect commutation. The commutation shall be effective on the date specified in such notice (the "Commutation Effective Date"); provided, that the Commutation Effective Date shall be at least ten (10) calendar days but no more than six (6) months following the date of such notice.

- (b) In the event of a commutation pursuant to Section 8.2(a), the Reinsurer shall make a final payment (a "Terminal Settlement Payment") to the Cedent in an amount equal to the result of [0.95 x [(i) (ii)]] (iii) (iv), where:
 - (i) is the Estimated Loss Amount as of the Commutation Effective Date;
 - (ii) is the Retention;
 - (iii) is the sum of all Quarterly Loss Payments paid by the Reinsurer to the Cedent prior to the Commutation Effective Date; and
 - (iv) is the discount for the present value of the result of the foregoing clauses (i)-(iii), based on the average remaining duration for the Reinsured Business and a discount interest mechanism to be mutually agreed by the parties to this Agreement at the time of such calculation.
- (c) Within sixty (60) days following the Cedent's delivery of a notice of its election to commute this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.2(a), the Cedent shall prepare and deliver to the Reinsurer a detailed calculation of the Terminal Settlement Payment (the "Terminal Settlement Statement").
- (d) The Reinsurer shall have thirty (30) days following receipt of the Terminal Settlement Statement to review the calculation of the Terminal Settlement Payment, and to notify the Cedent in writing if it disputes any aspect of the calculation of the Terminal Settlement Payment set forth in the Terminal Settlement Statement (the "Dispute Notice"), specifying the reasons therefor in reasonable detail. The Reinsurer shall be conclusively deemed to have accepted all items and amounts contained in the Terminal Settlement Statement other than the items identified in the Dispute Notice. In connection with the Reinsurer's review of the Terminal Settlement Statement, the Cedent shall permit, and shall cause its Representatives to permit, the Reinsurer and its Representatives to have reasonable access, during normal business hours and upon reasonable notice, to (i) the books, records and relevant employees of the Cedent and (ii) all relevant work papers, schedules, memoranda and other documents prepared by the Cedent or its Representatives in connection with its preparation of its calculation of the Terminal Settlement Payment.
- (e) In the event that the Reinsurer shall deliver a Dispute Notice to the Cedent, the Cedent and the Reinsurer shall attempt to resolve such dispute as promptly as practicable and, upon such resolution, if any adjustments to the Terminal Settlement Payment shall be made in accordance with the resolution of the Cedent and the Reinsurer, then the Cedent and the Reinsurer shall set forth any such resolution in writing. If the Cedent and the Reinsurer are unable to resolve any such dispute within thirty (30) Business Days (or such longer period as the Cedent and the Reinsurer shall mutually agree in writing) of the

Reinsurer's delivery of such Dispute Notice, the Cedent and the Reinsurer shall promptly submit to the Independent Accounting Firm any remaining items in dispute for resolution pursuant to the procedures set forth in Article XII, and any determination of the Independent Accounting Firm shall be final and binding on the parties.

(f) Any payment required to be made by the Reinsurer under Section 8.2 shall be made by wire transfer within five (5) Business Days of the determination of such amount, including the final determination of any payment amount pursuant to Article XII.

ARTICLE IX COLLATERAL

9.1. Collateral.

- (a) If the Reinsurer has experienced an Impairment Event and the Cedent has not yet elected to commute this Agreement in full pursuant to Section 8.2, at the Cedent's request, the Reinsurer shall provide collateral as security for the Reinsurer's obligations to the Cedent hereunder, in accordance with this Article IX. Within ten (10) Business Days after the Cedent's delivery of notice to the Reinsurer requiring that the Reinsurer provide collateral pursuant to this Section 9.1, the Reinsurer shall deliver to the Cedent security in the form of (i) clean, irrevocable and unconditional letters of credit issued by a bank or banks acceptable to the Cedent ("LOCs") and/or (ii) Eligible Assets valued at fair market value in a trust account (a "Trust Account") with a trustee (the "Trustee") reasonably acceptable to the Cedent naming the Cedent as sole beneficiary thereof, in the aggregate amount equal to the Collateral Requirement as of the end of the calendar quarter immediately preceding the Cedent's written notice. The parties agree to negotiate in good faith the form of trust agreement pursuant to which the Reinsurer will establish and maintain with the Trustee the Trust Account (the "Trust Agreement").
- (b) Prior to depositing assets in the Trust Account, the Reinsurer will execute assignments, endorsements, medallion guaranteed stock powers, and medallion guaranteed bond powers in blank as appropriate in each instance for the type of asset, to transfer legal title to the trustee of all shares, obligations or any other assets requiring assignment, conveyance or transfer, in order that the Cedent, or the trustee upon the direction of the Cedent, may whenever necessary negotiate the assets, attach the endorsements and record the assignments without any additional consent or signature from the Reinsurer or any other entity.
- (c) The amount of security provided by the Reinsurer shall be adjusted following the end of each calendar quarter to be equal to the Collateral Requirement as of the end of such calendar quarter as follows:
 - (i) If the aggregate face amount of the LOCs and the fair market value of the Eligible Assets held in the Trust Account at the end of any calendar quarter is less than the Collateral Requirement as of the end of such calendar quarter, calculated based on the most recent Quarterly Report, the Reinsurer shall, no later than ten (10) Business Days following receipt of Quarterly Report, increase the

face amount of the LOCs and/or transfer additional Eligible Assets to the Trust Account so that the aggregate face amount of the LOCs and the fair market value of the Eligible Assets held in the Trust Account is not less than the Collateral Requirement as of the end of such calendar quarter.

- (ii) If the aggregate face amount of the LOCs and the fair market value of the Eligible Assets held in the Trust Account at the end of any calendar quarter exceeds the Collateral Requirement as of the end of such calendar quarter, calculated based on the most recent Quarterly Report, the Reinsurer shall have the right to decrease the face amount of the LOCs and/or withdraw Eligible Assets from the Trust Account in accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement.
- (d) The Cedent and the Reinsurer agree that the LOC may be drawn upon by the Cedent and the assets maintained in the Trust Account may be withdrawn by the Cedent, including without limitation by any liquidator, rehabilitator, receiver or conservator of the Cedent, without diminution because of insolvency on the part of the Cedent or the Reinsurer at any time without notice to or consent from the Reinsurer, but only for one or more of the following purposes:
 - (i) to pay or reimburse the Cedent for amounts due to the Cedent hereunder, to the extent such amount has not been paid by the Reinsurer within twenty (20) Business Days following the Reinsurer's receipt of a written notice thereof; and
 - (ii) to make payments to the Reinsurer of amounts held in the Trust Account in excess of the amount required to be maintained by the Reinsurer in the Trust Account.
 - (e) The term "Collateral Requirement", as of any date of determination, means 100% of the result of [0.95 x [(i) (ii)]] (iii), where:
 - (i) is the Estimated Loss Amount as of such date of determination;
 - (ii) is the Retention; and
 - (iii) is the sum of all Quarterly Loss Payments paid by the Reinsurer to the Cedent prior to such date of determination.

ARTICLE X INSOLVENCY

10.1. <u>Payments</u>. In the event of the insolvency of the Cedent, payments due the Cedent on all reinsurance made, ceded, renewed or otherwise becoming effective under this Agreement shall be paid by the Reinsurer directly to the Cedent or to its domiciliary liquidator on the basis of the liability of the Cedent under the policy or policies reinsured, subject to court approval, without diminution because of the insolvency of the Cedent. It is agreed and understood, however, that (i) in the event of the insolvency of the Cedent, the Reinsurer shall be given

written notice of the pendency of a claim against the insolvent Cedent with respect to the policy or policies reinsured within a reasonable time after such claim is filed in the insolvency proceeding and (ii) during the pendency of such claim the Reinsurer may investigate such claim and interpose, at its own expense, in the proceeding where such claim is to be adjudicated, any defenses which it may deem available to the Cedent or its domiciliary liquidator.

10.2. Continuity of Terms. In the event of the insolvency of the Cedent, the terms of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.

ARTICLE XI EXCLUSIONS

- 11.1. Exclusions. The following shall be excluded from the definition of "Ultimate Net Loss" and not covered by this Agreement:
 - (a) Any liability paid by the Cedent prior to the Effective Date; and
- (b) Any liability of any tax, whether the tax is denominated as an income tax, excise tax, premium tax, surplus lines tax or any other tax assessment.

ARTICLE XII INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTING FIRM

- 12.1. <u>Dispute Resolution</u>. In the event that the Cedent and Reinsurer are unable to mutually resolve a dispute pursuant to Section 6.4, or Section 8.2, the Cedent and the Reinsurer shall promptly submit to the Independent Accounting Firm for resolution those items remaining in dispute pursuant to the following procedures:
 - (a) The Cedent and the Reinsurer agree to enter into a customary engagement letter with the Independent Accounting Firm, and any fees, costs or expenses of the Independent Accounting Firm (and the American Arbitration Association if engaged pursuant to the definition of Independent Accounting Firm) in respect of its services as contemplated by this Section 12.1 shall be borne by the parties in reverse proportion to the relative success of the parties on the disputed items submitted to the Independent Accounting Firm, with such determination of relative success made by the Independent Accounting Firm, or if the Independent Accounting Firm is unwilling to make such determination, then such fees, costs and expenses shall be borne fifty percent (50%) by the Reinsurer and fifty percent (50%) by the Cedent.
 - (b) The Independent Accounting Firm shall be instructed to use reasonable best efforts to perform its services and reach a final determination with respect to the matters submitted to it for resolution within thirty (30) days of submission of the dispute thereto and, in any case, as promptly as practicable after such submission. In resolving any disputed item, the Independent Accounting Firm (i) shall be bound by the provisions of this Section 12.1 and any other relevant provisions of this Agreement and (ii) may not assign a value to any item greater than the greatest value for such item claimed by either the Cedent or the Reinsurer.

- (c) In connection with the Independent Accounting Firm's consideration of the dispute submitted to it, each party shall permit, and cause its Affiliates and Representatives to permit, the Independent Accounting Firm and its Representatives to have reasonable access, during normal business hours and upon reasonable notice, to all relevant work papers, schedules, memoranda and other documents prepared by such Party or its Representatives in connection with its preparation of the disputed statement and/or the Dispute Notice, as the case may be, and to personnel of such Party and its Affiliates and any other information which the Independent Accounting Firm or any Representative thereof reasonably requests, and the parties hereto shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates and Representatives to, otherwise cooperate with the Independent Accounting Firm and its Representatives in connection therewith.
 - (d) Any determination of the Independent Accounting Firm shall be final and binding on the parties.

ARTICLE XIII ARBITRATION

- 13.1. Resolution of Damages. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, including in Section 6.4 and Section 8.2, as a condition precedent to any right arising under this Agreement, any dispute between the Cedent and the Reinsurer arising out of the provisions of this Agreement, or concerning its interpretation or validity, whether arising before or after termination of this Agreement, shall be submitted to arbitration in the manner set forth in this Article XIII. In the event of a conflict between this Section 13.1 and any other provision of this Agreement, this Section 13.1 shall prevail and the right of either party to commence proceedings before any other court or tribunal shall be limited to the process of enforcement of any award made pursuant to arbitration conducted in accordance with this Article XIII. Either party may initiate arbitration of any such dispute by giving written notice to the other party by registered mail or a recognized overnight courier of its intention to arbitrate and of its appointment of an arbitrator in accordance with Section 13.3.
- 13.2. <u>Composition of Panel</u>. Unless the parties agree upon a single arbitrator within fifteen (15) days after the receipt of notice of intention to arbitrate, all disputes shall be submitted to an arbitration panel composed of two arbitrators and an umpire, chosen in accordance with Sections 13.3 and 13.4.
- 13.3. Appointment of Arbitrators. The party requesting arbitration (hereinafter referred to as the "claimant") shall appoint an arbitrator and give written notice thereof, by registered mail or a recognized overnight courier to the other party (hereinafter referred to as the "respondent") together with its notice of intention to arbitrate. Unless a single arbitrator is agreed upon within fifteen (15) days after the receipt of the notice or intention to arbitrate, the respondent shall, within thirty (30) days after receiving such notice, also appoint an arbitrator and notify the claimant thereof in a like manner. Before instituting a hearing, the two arbitrators so appointed shall choose an impartial umpire. If, within thirty (30) days after they are both appointed, the arbitrators fail to agree upon the appointment of an umpire, the umpire shall be appointed by the President of the American Arbitration Association. The arbitrators shall be present or former executives or officers of property and casualty insurance or reinsurance companies. The arbitrators and umpire shall be disinterested individuals and not be under the control of either party, and shall have no financial interest in the outcome of the arbitration.

- 13.4. <u>Failure of a Party to Appoint Arbitrator</u>. If the respondent fails to appoint an arbitrator within thirty (30) days after receiving a notice of intention to arbitrate, such arbitrator shall be appointed by the President of the American Arbitration Association, and shall then, together with the arbitrator appointed by the claimant, choose an umpire as provided in Section 13.3.
- 13.5. <u>Choice of Forum</u>. Any arbitration instituted pursuant to this Article XIII shall be held in New York, New York or such other place as the parties may mutually agree; <u>provided</u>, that, notwithstanding the location of the arbitration, any arbitration or other legal proceeding pursuant to this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York in accordance with Section 14.7.
- 13.6. <u>Submission of Dispute to Panel</u>. Unless otherwise extended by the arbitration panel, or agreed to by the parties, the claimant shall submit its brief to the panel within forty-five (45) days after the selection of an umpire. The respondent shall submit its brief within forty-five (45) days thereafter. The claimant may submit a reply brief within thirty (30) days after the filing of the respondent's brief. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the time period for submission of the case to the panel may be extended or modified by mutual consent of the parties.
- 13.7. Procedure Governing Arbitration. Each party participating in the arbitration shall have the obligation to produce those documents and as witnesses to the arbitration those of its employees as any other participating party reasonably requests providing always that the same witnesses and documents be obtainable and relevant to the issues before the arbitration and not be unduly burdensome or excessive. The parties may mutually agree as to pre-hearing discovery prior to the arbitration hearing and in the absence of agreement, upon the request of any party, pre-hearing discovery may be conducted as the panel shall determine in its sole discretion to be in the interest of fairness, full disclosure, and a prompt hearing, decision and award by the panel. The panel shall be the final judge of the procedures of the panel, the conduct of the arbitration of the rules of evidence, the rules of privilege and production and of excessiveness and relevancy of any witnesses and documents upon the petition of any participating party. To the extent permitted by law, the panel shall have the authority to issue subpoenas and other orders to enforce their decisions.
- 13.8. <u>Arbitration Award</u>. The arbitration panel shall render its decision within sixty (60) days after termination of the proceeding unless the parties consent to an extension, which decision shall be in writing, stating the reason therefor. The decision of the majority of the panel shall be final and binding on the parties to the proceeding except to the extent otherwise provided in the Federal Arbitration Act. Judgment upon the award may be entered in any court having jurisdiction pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act.

- 13.9. Cost of Arbitration. Unless otherwise allocated by the panel, each party shall bear the expense of its own arbitrator and its own witnesses and shall equally bear with the other parties the expense of the umpire and the arbitration.
- 13.10. Limit of Authority. It is agreed that the arbitrators shall have no authority to impose any punitive, exemplary or consequential damage awards on either of the parties hereto.

ARTICLE XIV MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

- 14.1. Headings. Headings used herein are not a part of this Agreement and shall not affect the terms hereof.
- 14.2. Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications hereunder must be in writing (including facsimile transmission or electronic mail) and shall be deemed to have been duly given (i) when received if delivered by hand against written receipt, (ii) when received if sent by facsimile transmission or electronic mail between 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on a Business Day, provided such transmission is confirmed by the transmitting machine or e-mail system of the sender, or (iii) if sent by overnight courier, two (2) Business Days after delivery to a recognized major overnight courier service, fees prepaid. In each case notices shall be addressed as follows:

If to the Cedent:

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. 12 Crow Lane Pembroke HM19, Bermuda Attention: General Counsel E-mail: shw@renre.com

If to the Reinsurer:

Tokio Marine & Nichido Fire Insurance Co., Ltd. 2-1 Marunouchi 1-Chome Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, Japan, 100-8050 Tel: 81-3-6267-5775 Fax: 81-3-6267-5755 Attention: Tomoya Kittaka, General Manager,

Global Division, Commercial Lines Marketing Department

E-mail: TOMOYA.KITSUTAKA3@tmnf.jp

or to such other address or to such other Person as either party may have last designated by notice to the other party.

- 14.3. <u>Successors and Assigns</u>. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors, permitted assigns and legal representatives. Neither this Agreement, nor any right or obligation hereunder, may be assigned by either party without the prior written consent of the other party; provided, that the Reinsurer may assign this Agreement to a third party reinsurer with the prior written consent of the Cedent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Any assignment in violation of this Section 14.3 shall be void and shall have no force and effect.
- 14.4. Execution in Counterpart. This Agreement may be executed by the parties hereto in any number of counterparts, and by each of the parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which counterparts, when so executed and delivered, shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.
- 14.5. <u>Currency.</u> Whenever the word "<u>Dollars</u>" or the "<u>\$</u>" sign appear in this Agreement, they shall be construed to mean United States Dollars, and all transactions under this Agreement shall be in United States Dollars. Amounts paid or received by the Cedent in currency that is not United States Dollars shall be converted to United States Dollars at the rate of exchange at which such transactions are converted on the books of the Cedent.
- 14.6. <u>Amendments</u>. This Agreement may not be changed, altered or modified unless the same shall be in writing executed by the Cedent and the Reinsurer; provided, that, as and to the extent required by New York Law, this Agreement shall not be amended without the prior approval or non-objection of the New York Department of Financial Services.
- 14.7. <u>Governing Law</u>. This Agreement will be construed, performed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New York without giving effect to its principles or rules of conflict of laws thereof to the extent such principles or rules would require or permit the application of the laws of another jurisdiction.
- 14.8. Entire Agreement; Severability. (a) This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement, and supersedes all other prior agreements, understandings, statements, representations and warranties, oral or written, express or implied, between the parties and their respective Affiliates, representatives and agents in respect of the subject matter hereof and thereof.
 - (b) If any provision of this Agreement is held to be void or unenforceable, in whole or in part, (i) such holding shall not affect the validity and enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement, including any other provision, paragraph or subparagraph, and (ii) the parties agree to attempt in good faith to reform such void or unenforceable provision to the extent necessary to render such provision enforceable and to carry out its original intent.
 - (c) If any provision of this Agreement shall be rendered illegal or unenforceable by the laws, regulations or public policy of any state, such provision shall be void in such state, but this shall not affect the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

- 14.9. No Waiver; Preservation of Remedies. No consent or waiver, express or implied, by any party to or of any breach or default by any other party in the performance by such other party of its obligations hereunder shall be deemed or construed to be a consent or waiver to or of any other breach or default in the performance of obligations hereunder by such other party hereunder. Failure on the part of any party to complain of any act or failure to act of any other party or to declare any other party in default, irrespective of how long such failure continues, shall not constitute a waiver by such first party of any of its rights hereunder. The rights and remedies provided are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies that any party may otherwise have at law or equity.
- 14.10. <u>Third Party Beneficiary.</u> Except as expressly provided for in the insolvency subsection above or in Section 14.3 of this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement will confer any rights upon any Person that is not a party or a successor or permitted assignee of a party to this Agreement; <u>provided</u>, that the parties expressly agree and acknowledge that the Purchaser is also a third party beneficiary for purposes of Section 5.5 of this Agreement.
- 14.11. <u>Negotiated Agreement</u>. This Agreement has been negotiated by the parties and the fact that the initial and final draft will have been prepared by either party or an intermediary will not give rise to any presumption for or against any party to this Agreement or be used in any respect or forum in the construction or interpretation of this Agreement or any of its provisions.
- 14.12. <u>Interpretation</u>. Wherever the words "include," "includes" or "including" are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation." Nothing affecting the validity or enforceability of any agreement entered into between the Reinsurer or any of its Affiliates and the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates in connection with the Stock Purchase Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby shall affect the validity or enforceability of this Agreement.
- 14.13. <u>Incontestability</u>. In consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, each party hereto does hereby agree that this Agreement, and each and every provision hereof, is and shall be enforceable by and between them according to its terms, and each party does hereby agree that it shall not, directly or indirectly, contest the validity or enforceability hereof.
- 14.14. Service of Suit. It is agreed that in the event of the failure of the Reinsurer to pay any amount claimed to be due to Tokio AG U.S. Branch hereunder, the Reinsurer, at the request of the Cedent, will submit to the jurisdiction of a court of competent jurisdiction within the State of New York. Nothing in this Section 14.14 constitutes or should be understood to constitute a waiver of the Reinsurer's rights to commence an action in any court of competent jurisdiction in the State of New York, to remove an action to a federal or state court located in the State of New York, or to seek a transfer of a case to another court as permitted by the laws of the United States or of any state in the United States. It is further agreed that service of process in such suit may be made upon Tokio Marine North America, Inc., 1221 Avenue of the Americas, Suite 1500, New York, NY 10020, and that in any suit instituted, the Reinsurer will abide by the final decision of such court or of any appellate court in the event of an appeal. Further, the Reinsurer hereby designates the Superintendent of the New York State Department of Financial Services or other officer specified for that purpose in the New York Insurance Law, or his or her successor or successors in office, as its true and lawful attorney upon whom may be served any lawful process in any action, suit or proceeding instituted by or on behalf of Tokio AG U.S. Branch arising out

of this Agreement, and hereby designates the above-named as the person to whom the said officer is authorized to mail such process or a true copy thereof. This Section 14.14 will not be read to conflict with or override the obligations of the parties to arbitrate their disputes as provided for in Article XIII. This Section 14.14 is intended as an aid to compelling arbitration or enforcing such arbitration or arbitral award, not as an alternative to Article XIII for resolving disputes arising out of this Agreement.

14.15. Survival. Article XIII and Article XIV shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representatives.

TOKIO MILLENNIUM RE AG

By /s/ Michael J. Schell

Name: Michael J. Schell Title: Non-Executive Director

TOKIO MILLENNIUM RE (UK) LIMITED

By /s/ Kiichiro (Ken) Hatakeyama

Name: Kiichiro (Ken) Hatakeyama Title: Non-Executive Director

TOKIO MARINE & NICHIDO FIRE INSURANCCE CO., LTD

By /s/ Satoru Komiya

Name: Satoru Komiya

Title: Senior Managing Director

RETROCESSION AGREEMENT

between

TOKIO MILLENNIUM RE AG

and

TOKIO MARINE & NICHIDO FIRE INSURANCE CO., LTD.

This RETROCESSION AGREEMENT (the "Agreement"), is made and effective as 12:01 a.m. on March 22, 2019 (the "Effective Date"), by and between TOKIO MARINE &NICHIDO FIRE INSURANCE CO., LTD. ("Reinsurer"), a company organized in accordance with the laws of Japan, and TOKIO MILLENNIUM RE AG, a company organized in accordance with the laws of Switzerland and/or its branches (collectively, the "Company").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Company and the Reinsurer wish to enter into a retrocessional arrangement pursuant to which the Company will cede to the Reinsurer, and the Reinsurer will assume from the Company, all of the Company's liabilities arising from the Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts (as defined below) comprising the Subject Business (as defined below) upon the terms and subject to the conditions described herein; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises and recitals, which form a part of this Agreement, and the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained and of the mutual benefits herein provided, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

SUBJECT BUSINESS

This Agreement shall cover liabilities ceded to the Reinsurer under the Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts listed on the schedule attached hereto as Exhibit 1 (the "Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts Schedule") and made a part hereof, as amended and provided by the Company to the Reinsurer from time to time during the Risk Period of this Agreement in the manner set forth in the immediately following paragraph (such contracts set forth on the Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts Schedule (as may be amended), collectively referred to herein as the "Subject Business").

The term "Stop Loss Reinsurance Contract(s)" shall be limited to those agreements entered into by the Company with the Third Party Capital Partners (as defined below), and do not include any stop loss reinsurance agreements written in the ordinary course of business to any entity that is not a Third Party Capital Partner.

The Subject Business shall be limited to Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts that the Company entered into with Third Party Capital Partners which either (i) are in force as of the Effective Date or (ii) incept during the Risk Period. "Third Party Capital Partners" shall mean those fund managers identified on Exhibit 2, inclusive of any individual funds managed by those fund managers.

ARTICLE II

AGGREGATE LIMIT

The Reinsurer shall indemnify the Company for Losses (as defined below) it pays under the Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts comprising the Subject Business in an aggregate amount not to exceed (a) the Aggregate Limit for the respective Annual Period and (b) the Total Aggregate Limit for all Annual Risk Periods.

Losses under each Contract constituting the Subject Business will be covered in the Annual Risk Period in which the effective date of such Contract occurs. With respect to Losses under Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts already in force as of the Effective Date, such Losses will be covered in the First Annual Risk Period.

The Company shall notify the Reinsurer of the Aggregate Limit for each Annual Risk Period no later than fifteen (15) days following the first day of each such Annual Risk Period.

There shall be no reinstatement whatsoever of any limit under this Agreement for any Annual Risk Period.

"Aggregate Limit" shall mean, for each Annual Risk Period:

First Annual Risk Period: As determined by the Company, but not to exceed the greater of (a) \$3,000,000,000 and (b) the total amount of limits

for Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts comprising the Subject Business in force on the Effective Date.

Second Annual Risk Period: As determined by the Company, but not to exceed the lesser of (a) \$3,000,000,000 and (b) the Total Aggregate Limit

less the Aggregate Limit for the First Annual Risk Period.

Third Annual Risk Period: As determined by the Company, but not to exceed the lesser of (a) \$3,000,000,000 and (b) the Total Aggregate Limit

less the Aggregate Limit for the First Annual Risk Period and the Aggregate Limit for the Second Annual Risk Period

(such amount not to be less than zero).

"Risk Period" shall mean the period commencing at 12:01 a.m. Standard Time on the Effective Date to and including 11:59 p.m. Standard Time on December 31, 2021.

"Standard Time" shall follow the time specified or determined, as applicable, under the applicable Contract comprising the Subject Business.

"First Annual Risk Period" shall begin at 12:01 a.m. Standard Time on the Effective Date and end at 11:59 p.m. Standard Time on December 31, 2019.

"Second Annual Risk Period" shall begin at 12:01 a.m. Standard Time on January 1, 2020 and end at 11:59 p.m. Standard Time on December 31, 2020.

"Third Annual Risk Period" shall begin at 12:01 a.m. Standard Time on January 1, 2021 and end at 11:59 p.m. Standard Time on December 31, 2021.

"Total Aggregate Limit" shall mean \$5,500,000,000

ARTICLE III

TERM

This Agreement shall become effective, and the reinsurance coverage hereunder shall incept, as of 12:01 a.m. Standard Time as of the Effective Date and shall continue in effect from the Effective Date until:

- (i) Such time as the Company has no further liability with respect to the Subject Business and all amounts due to the Company under this Agreement have been paid by the Reinsurer;
- (ii) The Total Aggregate Limit has been paid in full; or
- (iii) This Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms.

Upon the expiration of the Risk Period, the Reinsurer shall remain liable for all Losses (including, without limitation, all incurred Losses as well as Losses incurred but not reported) with respect to all Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts comprising the Subject Business in force on the Effective Date or with effective dates during the Risk Period until the natural expiration date and final disposition of all of the Company's obligations with respect to such Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts.

ARTICLE IV

COVERAGE

Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Reinsurer shall indemnify the Company for 100% of losses paid by the Company under Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts comprising the Subject Business, provided that the maximum amount payable by the Reinsurer hereunder in the aggregate for any Annual Risk Period shall not exceed the applicable Aggregate Limit for such Annual Risk Period or the Total Aggregate Limit during the Risk Period.

"Loss" or "Losses" shall be equal to the sum of all loss amounts to be paid (and in fact paid) by the Company in accordance with the terms of the Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts comprising the Subject Business. For avoidance of doubt, "paid" as used herein shall include offset of any other balances held at the Company.

ARTICLE V

TERRITORY

This Agreement shall follow the territorial scope of the Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts comprising the Subject Business.

ARTICLE VI

EXCLUSIONS

This Agreement shall be subject to the exclusions contained in the Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts comprising the Subject Business.

ARTICLE VII

FOLLOW THE FORTUNES

The Reinsurer's liability for each Contract comprising the Subject Business shall attach simultaneously with that of the Company and shall be subject in all respects to the same risks, terms, conditions, definitions, coverages, interpretations, waivers, modifications, alterations, and cancellations as the respective insurances (or reinsurances) of the Company (including, without limitation, coverage for any extra-contractual obligations or losses in excess of policy limits, as may be covered under any Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts comprising the Subject Business). The true intent of this Agreement is that the Reinsurer shall, subject to the terms, conditions and limits of this Agreement, including the Total Aggregate Limit, follow the fortunes of the Company. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the Company and the Reinsurer agree that the Company would not otherwise agree to insure or reinsure risks under the Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts without the Reinsurer's absolute and unconditional commitment to follow the fortunes of the Company in all respects with respect thereto as expressly set forth in this Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof, except in cases of gross negligence, fraud and willful misconduct on the part of the Company.

ARTICLE VIII

PREMIUM

The Company will pay the Reinsurer the premium set forth on Exhibit 3 hereto on the Effective Date.

ARTICLE IX

REPORTS

Within twenty (20) Business Days after the close of each calendar quarter, the Company shall provide the Reinsurer the following information (each, a "Quarterly Report") with respect to each Contract included in the Subject Business: the applicable Annual Period for such Contract, the remaining Aggregate Limit for each Annual Period and the aggregate premiums received for each Annual Period. In connection with the delivery of each Quarterly Report, the Company will also deliver an updated Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts Schedule. In addition, the Company shall immediately notify the Reinsurer once it becomes aware of a claim under a Contract included in the Subject Business that is likely to give rise to a Loss under this Agreement.

ARTICLE X

SETTLEMENTS OF REINSURER'S LIABILTHES

Within thirty (30) Business Days after receipt by the Reinsurer of any Quarterly Report, and an invoice reflecting amounts due under this Agreement, the Reinsurer shall pay to the Company amounts due hereunder.

Notwithstanding the above, in the event that at any time the Company becomes obligated to make a payment or series of payments under a Stop Loss Reinsurance Contract included in the Subject Business that will give rise to a Loss under this Agreement, before such payment is due, the Company may present to the Reinsurer an itemized statement of the amounts payable hereunder. The Reinsurer then shall be obligated (subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement) to simultaneously pay such Loss to the Company when the Company makes the payment or series of payments under the Stop Loss Reinsurance.

ARTICLE XI

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

- (a) The Reinsurer represents and warrants to the Purchaser and the Company as of the Effective Date that:
 - (i) the Company and the Reinsurer are duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of their respective states of incorporation, and have the corporate and legal power and authority to own, lease and operate their assets, to carry on their business as now conducted and to enter into and consummate the transactions contemplated hereby;
 - (ii) the Company and the Reinsurer have duly authorized, executed and delivered this Agreement, which constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company and the Reinsurer enforceable against the Company and the Reinsurer in accordance with its terms, except as limited by laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally or by general equitable principles;
 - (iii) the execution, delivery and performance by the Company and the Reinsurer of this Agreement, and the performance by the Company and the Reinsurer of their respective obligations hereunder will not (i) conflict with any of the provisions of the articles or certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Company or the Reinsurer, as applicable, (ii) conflict with or result in a breach of or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, give rise to a right of termination, cancellation, modification or acceleration of any obligation or to the loss of any benefit under, or result in the creation of any Lien on the shares of issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company or any property or asset owned by the Company under, any Permit, instrument, contract or other legally binding commitment or agreement to which the Company or the Reinsurer is a party or by which any of their respective properties or assets is bound, or (iii) violate any Law applicable to the Company or the Reinsurer or their respective properties or assets.
- (b) The Reinsurer covenants to the Company that it shall use utmost good faith in all of its dealings with the Company and in all of the transactions contemplated hereby.

"Purchaser" shall mean RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.

ARTICLE XII

ADMINISTRATION COVENANTS

The Company shall administer the Subject Business at the Company's sole expense. The Reinsurer shall not be liable for any costs and expenses for the administration of the Subject Business and the Company shall be entitled to retain all revenues, premiums and fees related to the Subject Business.

The Company shall administer the Subject Business in a professional and competent manner consistent with the Company's past practice and in accordance with the following:

- (a) the Company shall use utmost good faith in all of its dealings with the Reinsurer under this Agreement and in all of the transactions contemplated hereby;
- the Company shall not make any material change in the guidelines, principles, practices or policies in effect on the date hereof with respect to pricing or underwriting the Subject Business;
- (c) the Company shall not make any material changes in the Company's methods of accounting, except in accordance with commercially
 accepted accounting practices or as required by applicable law or accounting standards;
- (d) the Company shall not settle or compromise any claim under the Subject Business that is in excess of \$10,000,000 individually or \$25,000,000 in the aggregate without consent from the Reinsurer, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld;
- (e) the Company shall enforce its rights to salvage and subrogation relating to any loss, a part of which loss was sustained by the Reinsurer under this Agreement, and to prosecute all claims arising out of such rights if, in the Company's opinion, it is economically reasonable to do so; if the Company refuses or neglects to enforce any rights of subrogation relating to the Subject Business, the Reinsurer will be entitled to exercise the Company's right of subrogation, and is hereby empowered and authorized to institute appropriate action in the name of the Company;
- (f) the Company shall not transfer or sell, by any means, all or a portion of the Subject Business to an unaffiliated entity without the prior written consent of the Reinsurer, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld; and
- (g) the Company shall maintain books and records relating to the Subject Business and this Agreement in accordance with the Company's policies and procedures generally applicable thereto.

ARTICLE XIII

CURRENCY

Wherever the word "Dollars" or sign "S" appear in this Agreement they shall be construed to mean United States Dollars.

For purposes of this Agreement, when the Company pays Losses in currencies other than United States currency, such Losses shall be converted into United States Dollars at the same rates of exchange as entered in the Company's books.

ARTICLE XIV

ACCESS TO RECORDS/CONFIDENTIALITY

The Reinsurer and its duly appointed representatives shall have full access to the books and records of the Company during normal business hours on all Business Days and at any other reasonable times for the purpose of obtaining information concerning this Agreement and the Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts covered hereunder or the subject matter hereof. Upon request, the Company shall supply the Reinsurer and its duly appointed representatives, at the Reinsurer's expense, with copies of the whole or any part of such books and records relating to this Agreement or the subject matter hereof.

Each of the parties (as a receiving party, the "Receiving Party.") agrees, on behalf of itself and its affiliates, agents and representatives, to hold and keep confidential, and not to disclose to any third party (for the avoidance of doubt, "third party" as used herein shall not include any affiliates, agents, representatives or investors of the Receiving Party), any confidential and proprietary information of the other party (as disclosing party, the "Disclosing Party") that it receives or has access to (unless requested or required by relevant insurance regulatory authorities or otherwise compelled to do so by applicable law). The Reinsurer further agrees, on behalf of itself and its affiliates, agents and representatives, that it shall not use any underwriting or related information received from the Company, except for the sole purpose of analyzing the risks to be ceded to the Reinsurer hereunder or in the application of the terms of this Agreement. The Receiving Party agrees to abide by any determination by the Disclosing Party that any information provided to the Receiving Party constitutes confidential and proprietary information.

ARTICLE XV

ERRORS AND OMISSIONS

Any inadvertent delay, omission, or error shall not be held to relieve either party hereto from any liability which would attach to it hereunder if such delay, omission or error had not been made, provided such delay, omission or error is rectified promptly upon discovery.

ARTICLE XVI

RIGHT OF ASSOCIATION

The Reinsurer shall have the right, but not the obligation, to associate at its own expense with the Company in the adjustment, litigation or negotiation of claims arising from the Subject Business; however, the Company shall retain ultimate authority on handling of claims

ARTICLE XVII

ARBITRATION

Any dispute or claim between the Reinsurer and the Company arising out of or relating to this Agreement, including its formation and validity, shall be referred to arbitration. Arbitration shall be initiated by the delivery, by mail, facsimile, or other reliable means, of a written demand for arbitration by one party to the other. The arbitration shall be held in the State of New York or such other place as the parties may mutually agree.

Arbitration shall be conducted before a three-person arbitration panel appointed as follows. Each party shall appoint one arbitrator, and the two arbitrators so appointed shall then appoint a neutral umpire before proceeding. If either party fails to appoint an arbitrator within thirty (30) days after it receives a written request by the other party to do so, the requesting party may appoint both arbitrators. Should the two arbitrators fail to choose an umpire within thirty (30) days of the appointment of the second arbitrator, the parties shall appoint the umpire pursuant to the ARIAS•U.S. Umpire Selection Procedure. The arbitrators and umpire shall be either present or former executive officers of insurance or reinsurance companies, or arbitrators certified by ARIAS•U.S. The arbitrators and umpire shall not be under the control of either party, and shall have no financial interest in the outcome of the arbitration.

The arbitrators and umpire shall interpret this Agreement as an honorable engagement, and shall not be obligated to follow the strict rules of law or evidence. In making their award, they shall apply the custom and practice of the insurance and reinsurance industry, with a view to effecting the general purpose of the Agreement.

The decision of a majority of the arbitration panel shall be final and binding. The arbitration panel shall render its award in writing. Judgment upon the award may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. Each party shall pay: (i) the fees and expenses of its own arbitrator; and (ii) an equal share of the fees and expenses of the umpire and of the other expenses of the arbitration.

ARTICLE XVIII

NOTICES

All notices, requests, demands and other communications hereunder must be in writing (including facsimile transmission or electronic mail) and shall be deemed to have been duly given (i) when received if delivered by hand against written receipt, (ii) when received if sent by facsimile transmission or electronic mail between 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on a Business Day, provided such transmission is confirmed by the transmitting machine or e-mail system of the sender, or (iii) if sent by overnight courier, two (2) Business Days after delivery to a recognized major overnight courier service, fees prepaid. In each case notices shall be addressed as follows:

If to the Company:

Tokio Millennium Re AG Beethovenstrasse 33 Zurich 8002 Switzerland Attn: General Counsel Fax: +41 43 283 60 99

If to the Reinsurer:

Tokio Marine & Nichido Fire Insurance Co., Ltd. 1-2-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-Ku, Tokyo, 100-8050, Japan Attention: Tomoya Kittaka, General Manager, Global Division, Commercial Lines Marketing Department

Tel: 81-3-6267-5775 Fax: 81-3-6267-5755

E-mail: TOMOYA.KITSUTAKA3@tmnf.jp

ARTICLE XIX

MISCELLANEOUS

A. Offset. Both the Reinsurer and the Company shall have, and may exercise at any time, the right to offset any balance or balances due from one party to the other or, to the extent permitted by applicable law, such other's successor, including a successor by operation of law. Such offset may only include balances due under this Agreement and any other reinsurance agreement heretofore or hereafter entered into between the Reinsurer and the Company (whether in the capacity as a reinsured or reinsurer) provided that such other reinsurance agreement(s) relate(s) only to the Subject Business or any portion thereof, regardless of whether such balances are in respect of premiums, commission, losses or otherwise.

- **B. Entire Agreement.** This Agreement (including Stop Loss Reinsurance Contracts Schedules) contain the entire agreement between the parties, and supersede all prior or contemporaneous discussions, negotiations, representations, or agreements, relating to the subject matter hereof.
- C. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and governed by, the laws of the State of New York (other than any mandatory conflict of law rule which might result in the application of the law of any other jurisdiction).
- **D.** Third Party Rights. This Agreement is intended for the exclusive benefit of the parties to this Agreement and their respective successors and permitted assigns, and nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as creating any rights or benefits in or to any third party.
- **E. Headings.** The captions of the various sections of this Agreement are for purposes of reference only and shall not limit or otherwise affect the meaning thereof.
- **F. Amendments.** This Agreement may not be modified or amended or any term or provision hereof waived or discharged except in writing signed by the party against whom such amendment, modification, waiver or discharge is sought to be enforced.
- **G. Waiver.** Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any failure or delay on the part of any party in exercising any power or right hereunder shall not operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or power preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power hereunder or otherwise available at law or in equity.
- **H.** Assignment. No party may assign any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the written consent of the other party to this Agreement. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, this Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by and against the respective successors and assigns of each party to this Agreement.
- I. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be signed by their duly authorized directors and officers, as the case may be.

TOKIO MILLENNIUM RE AG

By: /s/ Michael J. Schell

Name: Michael J. Schell

Title: Director

TOKIO MARINE & NICHIDO FIRE INSURANCE CO., LTD.

By /s/ Satoru Komiya

Name: Satoru Komiya

Title: Senior Managing Director



RenaissanceRe Completes Acquisition of Tokio Millennium Re

Pembroke, Bermuda, March 22, 2019—RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. (NYSE:RNR) ("RenaissanceRe") today announced that it has concluded its acquisition of Tokio Millennium Re ("TMR"). The acquisition was originally announced on October 30, 2018 and the completion follows the receipt of all necessary regulatory approvals.

Kevin J. O'Donnell, President and Chief Executive Officer of RenaissanceRe, said: "The acquisition of TMR accelerates our strategy and enhances RenaissanceRe's global reinsurance leadership, product offerings and access to attractive risk. The bespoke structure of this transaction also strengthens our long-standing relationship with Tokio Marine Group. Our entire team is excited about the expanded opportunities that the TMR platform will bring to deliver the best underwriting solutions in the business while maximizing shareholder value."

About RenaissanceRe

RenaissanceRe is a global provider of reinsurance and insurance that specializes in matching well-structured risks with efficient sources of capital. The Company provides property, casualty and specialty reinsurance and certain insurance solutions to customers, principally through intermediaries. Established in 1993, the Company has offices in Bermuda, Australia, Ireland, Singapore, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Any forward-looking statements made in this Press Release reflect RenaissanceRe's current views with respect to future events and financial performance and are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are subject to numerous factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those set forth in or implied by such forward-looking statements, including the following: risks that the Tokio Millennium Re transaction disrupts or distracts from current plans and operations; the ability to recognize the benefits of the Tokio Millennium Re transaction; the amount of the costs, fees, expenses and charges related to the Tokio Millennium Re transaction; the frequency and severity of catastrophic and other events that the Company covers; the effectiveness of the Company's claims and claim expense reserving process; the Company's ability to maintain its financial strength ratings; the effect of climate change on the Company's business; collection on claimed retrocessional coverage, and new retrocessional reinsurance being available on acceptable terms and providing the coverage that we intended to obtain; the effects of U.S. tax reform legislation and possible future tax reform legislation and regulations, including changes to the tax treatment of the Company's shareholders or investors in the Company's joint ventures or other entities the Company manages; the effect of emerging claims and coverage issues; continued soft reinsurance underwriting market conditions; the Company's reliance on a small and decreasing number of reinsurance brokers and other distribution services for the preponderance of its revenue; the Company's exposure to credit loss from counterparties in the normal course of business; the effect of continued challenging economic conditions throughout the world; a contention by the Internal Revenue Service that Renaissance Reinsurance Ltd., or any of the Company's other Bermuda subsidiaries, is subject to taxation in the U.S.; the success of any of the Company's strategic investments or acquisitions, including the Company's ability to manage its operations as its product and geographical diversity increases; the Company's ability to retain key senior officers and to attract or retain the executives and employees necessary to manage its

business; the performance of the Company's investment portfolio; losses that the Company could face from terrorism, political unrest or war; the effect of cybersecurity risks, including technology breaches or failure on the Company's business; the Company's ability to successfully implement its business strategies and initiatives; the Company's ability to determine the impairments taken on investments; the effects of inflation; the ability of the Company's ceding companies and delegated authority counterparties to accurately assess the risks they underwrite; the effect of operational risks, including system or human failures; the Company's ability to effectively manage capital on behalf of investors in joint ventures or other entities it manages; foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; the Company's ability to raise capital if necessary; the Company's ability to comply with covenants in its debt agreements; changes to the regulatory systems under which the Company operates, including as a result of increased global regulation of the insurance and reinsurance industries; changes in Bermuda laws and regulations and the political environment in Bermuda; the Company's dependence on the ability of its operating subsidiaries to declare and pay dividends; aspects of the Company's corporate structure that may discourage third-party takeovers or other transactions; the cyclical nature of the reinsurance and insurance industries; adverse legislative developments that reduce the size of the private markets the Company serves or impede their future growth; consolidation of competitors, customers and insurance and reinsurance brokers; the effect on the Company's business of the highly competitive nature of its industry, including the effect of new entrants to, competing products for and consolidation in the (re)insurance industry; other political, regulatory or industry initiatives adversely impacting the Company; the Company's ability to comply with applicable sanctions and foreign corrupt practices laws; increasing barriers to free trade and the free flow of capital; international restrictions on the writing of reinsurance by foreign companies and government intervention in the natural catastrophe market; the effect of Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development or European Union ("EU") measures to increase the Company's taxes and reporting requirements; the effect of the vote by the U.K. to leave the EU; changes in regulatory regimes and accounting rules that may impact financial results irrespective of business operations; the Company's need to make many estimates and judgments in the preparation of its financial statements; and other factors affecting future results disclosed in RenaissanceRe's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including its Annual Reports on Form 10-K and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q.

###

Investor Contact: RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. Keith McCue Senior Vice President, Finance & Investor Relations 441-239-4830

Media Contacts: RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. Keil Gunther Vice President, Marketing & Communications 441-239-4932

Kekst CNC Dawn Dover, 212-521-4800